#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,



No. 20-0133

VS.

JUSTIN J. MARCUM,

Respondent.

#### BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org Jessica H. Donahue Rhodes [Bar No. 9453] Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel jrhodes@wvodc.org Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel City Center East, Suite 1200C 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile

##

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION</u> OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Formal charges were filed against Justin J. Marcum (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (hereinafter "Supreme Court") on or about February 21, 2020, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Supreme Court Clerk on February 24, 2020. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about March 16, 2020. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about March 25, 2020. Respondent provided his mandatory discovery on April 15, 2020.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Williamson, West Virginia, on September 21, 2020. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Timothy E. Haught, Esquire, Chairperson, Rhonda L. Harsh, Esquire, and Mrs. Cynthia Tawney, Layperson. Jessica H. Donahue Rhodes, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC"). Lonnie C. Simmons, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also appeared. The HPS heard testimony from Robin P. Cisco, Esquire, Jackie Lee Marcum, II, Paul D. Brown, Jr., Ricky A. Haney, Jeffrey S. Simpkins, Esquire, W. Stephen Flesher, Esquire, Lora L. Cline, Bert W. Gibson, Robert E. Albury, Jr., Louis Dante Ditrapano, Esquire, Charles Eubanks, Robert H. Davis, Jr., Esquire, and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-74,<sup>1</sup> Respondent's Exhibits 1-13 and Joint Exhibits J1 and J2<sup>2</sup> were admitted into evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Respondent did not object to the admission of the exhibits, but noted that some exhibits, in particular, affidavits, constituted inadmissible hearsay and that any findings of fact would have to be based upon admissible evidence presented in the hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Joint Exhibit 2 set out what was covered in the Statement of Charges and not what was presented at the hearing.

On or about February 8, 2021, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent violated Rules 1.7(a), 7.2(c), 7.3(c), 8.4(b), and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct (hereinafter "RPC"). The HPS issued the following recommendation as the appropriate sanction:

- A. That Respondent's law license be suspended for a period of two years, however, the suspension shall be stayed and the Respondent placed on supervised probation for the remaining period of Respondent's contract with Judicial and Lawyer Assistance Program (hereinafter "JLAP") or to June 28, 2023. See Robert C. Albury's testimony Hrg. Trans. 191. Further, there shall be the immediate suspension of the entire two year suspension if any conditions or requirements of the JLAP contract or other RPC are violated after a petition to the Supreme Court;
- B. That Respondent complete additional nine (9) CLE hours in substance abuse education in addition to the twenty-four (24) hours already required of him by the State Bar, but the additional nine (9) hours must be completed within six (6) months of the Order from the Supreme Court;
- C. That Respondent comply with the terms and conditions of his JLAP contract;
- D. That Respondent must comply with the mandates of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure; and
- E. Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

#### B. FINDINGS OF FACT

Respondent is a lawyer practicing in Williamson, which is located in Mingo County, West Virginia. ODC 25, Bates 188. Respondent, having passed the bar exam, was admitted to The West

Virginia State Bar on October 19, 2011. ODC 25, Bates 187. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.

Respondent is married and has two children who were six and eight at the time of the hearing. Hrg. Trans. 284. Respondent grew up in Mingo County, went to Marshall University and West Virginia University for undergrad, and to the Appalachian School of Law. Hrg. Trans. 285-286. He was licensed as a lawyer in West Virginia in 2011, and licensed in Kentucky in 2016. Hrg. Trans. 286. Since about 2012, Respondent has maintained a solo law practice, doing civil and criminal work in state and federal courts. Hrg. Trans. 286-287. Respondent served as a member of the West Virginia House of Delegates and was running for the Senate in 2018 when he decided to focus on his own health and withdrew from the Senate race. Hrg. Trans. 301-03.

## COUNT I I.D. No. 17-03-552 Complaint of Jeffrey S. Simpkins, Esquire

On November 1, 2017, Complainant Jeffrey S. Simpkins, Esquire, filed a complaint alleging that Respondent had made uninitiated contact with his client, K.P.B.,<sup>3</sup> on August 8, 2017 for approximately thirty (30) minutes while she was incarcerated in the Southwestern Regional Jail (hereinafter "SWRJ"). ODC 1, Bates 1-33. Mr. Simpkins said he was retained by K.P.B. on August 3, 2017, to pursue damages regarding an incident wherein a Mingo County Civilian Court Bailiff had taken K.P.B. to a boiler room in the Courthouse and subjected her to the imposition of sexual acts while she was in handcuffs and leg irons. ODC 1, Bates 4. Mr. Simpkins said that Respondent was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because of the sensitive nature of the facts alleged in this case, initials are used herein for the victim. See <u>State v. Edward Charles L.</u>, 183 W.Va. 641, 645 n. 1, 398 S.E.2d 123, 127 n.1 (1990). See also Rule 40(e)(1) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

aware that K.P.B. already had representation, but still attempted to solicit her case. ODC 1, Bates 5. Mr. Simpkins did not explain in his complaint the factual basis for his assertion that Respondent was aware that K.P.B. had legal representation.

On or about August 19, 2017, K.P.B. sent a letter to Mr. Simpkins to advise him that Respondent had visited her at SWRJ, telling her that her mother and father had told him that she needed an attorney and asked him to visit her at the jail. K.P.B. said she told Respondent that she already had an attorney, and he acknowledged that he was aware of that fact. K.P.B. said she advised Respondent that he had misrepresented the facts because her parents were divorced and were not on speaking terms and, therefore, she knew they had not requested that he visit her in jail. Id. K.P.B. said she advised Respondent that Mr. Simpkins was representing her in both her criminal and civil cases, and she was satisfied with the representation. Id. Mr. Simpkins stated that after Respondent had the conversation with K.P.B. and learned confidential information that could be harmful to her, he then undertook the representation of the civilian court bailiffs. ODC 1, Bates 5-6. Mr. Simpkins did not explain in his complaint the factual basis for his assertion that Respondent learned confidential information from K.P.B. that could be harmful to her. Mr. Simpkins provided a copy of an October 20, 2017 letter sent to him by Respondent wherein Respondent states that his office has been retained by Larry "Yogi" Croaff, Dustin Scarberry and Billy Brian Haney, Civilian Court Bailiffs, for representation in a civil suit against Mr. Simpkins alleging slander. ODC 1, Bates 27. Mr. Simpkins provided an Affidavit signed by K.P.B.'s mother wherein she stated that she had no contact or conversations with Respondent in regards to the representation of K.P.B., and that Respondent had provided a false statement to jail authorities in order to solicit K.P.B. as a client. ODC 1, Bates 25-26. Mr. Simpkins provided an Affidavit signed by K.P.B.'s father wherein he

stated that he never had any contact or conversations with Respondent or any of his affiliates in regards to the representation of K.P.B., and that Respondent had provided a false statement to jail authorities in order to solicit K.P.B. as a client. ODC 1, Bates 30-31.

By letter dated November 9, 2017, Mr. Simpkins filed a second complaint against Respondent, which was merged with the initial complaint. ODC 3, Bates 36-39. Mr. Simpkins stated that his office was retained by Edith Puckett, Phillip Puckett and Barbara Marcum regarding an automobile accident which occurred on December 27, 2008. ODC 3, Bates 36. Mr. Simpkins said that upon learning that the case had the appearance of fraud, he withdrew from the representation on January 6, 2009. Id. Mr. Simpkins said those individuals were subsequently indicted, prosecuted, convicted, and spent time in jail for insurance fraud. ODC 3, Bates 36-37. Mr. Simpkins said that after filing the initial ethics complaint, he was advised by Mary Davis, a relative of Edith Puckett, that Respondent had contacted Edith Puckett, Phillip Puckett and Barbara Marcum and asked them to sign false affidavits stating that they had provided Mr. Simpkins with car wreck claims in exchange for money. ODC 3, Bates 37. Mr. Simpkins believed Respondent was retaliating against him for filing the initial ethics complaint. ODC 3, Bates 36.

On November 15, 2017, Respondent filed a response to the first complaint. ODC 4, Bates 40-61. Respondent admitted that he went to the jail for approximately thirty (30) minutes on August 8, 2017. ODC 4, Bates 41. He stated that he briefly met with K.P.B. on that date, but said he also met with three (3) other clients. ODC 4, Bates 41-42. Respondent said he told K.P.B. that someone in her family had called a friend of his asking him to stop by to see her. ODC 4, Bates 42. Respondent said he asked K.P.B. if she had an attorney and, when she responded yes, he told her he could not talk with her because she already had counsel. <u>Id</u>. Respondent denied asking K.P.B. anything about

her case, saying that he immediately left the room upon learning that she already had representation. <u>Id</u>. Respondent said that K.P.B. did not communicate any information about her case in the short amount of time that he met with her. <u>Id</u>.

Respondent stated that a friend of his, Ricky Haney, had been contacted by two individuals, one of them being K.P.B.'s mother. ODC 4, Bates 42-43. Respondent stated that these individuals asked Mr. Haney to have Respondent contact K.P.B. and, further, he did not know that she already had representation when he went to the jail. <u>Id</u>. Respondent provided an affidavit signed by Ricky Haney attesting that K.P.B.'s mother and her friend had contacted him to request that Respondent meet with her daughter. ODC 4, Bates 48-50. Respondent said that on October 20, 2017, some eleven (11) weeks after his meeting with K.P.B., he notified Mr. Simpkins that he was representing the bailiffs. ODC 4, Bates 44. Respondent said he did not learn anything substantive from K.P.B., but, after receiving this ethics complaint, withdrew from his representation of the bailiffs. <u>Id</u>. Respondent said K.P.B. lied in the letter she sent to Mr. Simpkins, and he further accused Mr. Simpkins of filing a frivolous ethics complaint because he did not investigate the matter before he filed the complaint. ODC 4, Bates 44-45.

Mr. Simpkins filed a reply on November 15, 2017, and provided a second affidavit from K.P.B.'s mother wherein she stated that she did not contact Respondent or Ricky Haney, did not have any conversations with either one, and is not friends with Katrina Young. ODC 5, Bates 62-93, 90. She stated that Mr. Haney's affidavit was false, misleading and a mischaracterization of the facts. ODC 5, Bates 90.

On February 7, 2019, Respondent filed a response to the second complaint. ODC 12, Bates 103-108. Respondent admitted that he met with Earn Davis and Phillip Puckett regarding Mr.

Puckett's criminal case for insurance fraud, but stated that he never met Edith Puckett or Barbara Marcum. ODC 12, Bates 104. Respondent stated that he did not solicit any of those people as clients. ODC 12, Bates 105. Respondent stated that he prepared the affidavits based on the information he was given when he met with Mr. Davis and Mr. Puckett, and said he merely prepared the affidavits as part of his intake process. ODC 12, Bates 104. Respondent stated that Mr. Puckett informed him that Mr. Simpkins had coached, counseled, informed, and directed Mr. Puckett to make sure the wreck was a rear-end collision. <u>Id</u>. Respondent said that Mr. Davis told him that Mr. Simpkins had given him cash on five separate occasions for car wreck referrals. ODC 12, Bates 105. Respondent said he declined to take the lawsuit out of professional courtesy and because the statute of limitations had possibly passed. ODC 12, Bates 104. Respondent stated that he had been friends with Earn and Mary Davis for many years and, when Mary Davis filed for divorce, she hired Mr. Simpkins to represent her. Respondent represented Earn Davis. <u>Id</u>.

Disciplinary Counsel took K.P.B.'s sworn statement on February 12, 2019.<sup>4</sup> ODC 13, Bates 109-134. K.P.B. stated that Respondent came to the jail on August 8, 2017, and that she went to the interview room believing she was meeting with Mr. Simpkins because she was told her attorney was there to meet with her. ODC 13, Bates 117-118. K.P.B. said that Respondent told her he knew that Mr. Simpkins was her lawyer, but that she should fire Mr. Simpkins and hire Respondent because he was a former assistant prosecutor and member of the House of Delegates and could get the results she needed. ODC 13, Bates 118-119. K.P.B. said Respondent told her he ran into her mom and dad in town and they wanted him to come meet with her. ODC 13, Bates 118. K.P.B. said Respondent told her he ran into her mom and dad in town and they wanted him to come meet with her. ODC 13, Bates 118. K.P.B. said she knew that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> K.P.B. did not appear to testify for the disciplinary hearing. K.P.B. had indicated to Disciplinary Counsel via Facebook that she would appear, so no subpoena was issued for her. Hrg. Trans. 351-352.

Respondent tried to ask her about her civil case against the bailiff, about what had happened between her and the bailiff, and if the bailiff had raped her. ODC 13, Bates 120-122. K.P.B. said she did tell Respondent that she had been raped, but could not recall what else she told him about the incident. ODC 13, Bates 122. K.P.B. said Respondent did have a folder with her name on it, but she told Respondent that she was not going to fire Mr. Simpkins and asked him to leave. ODC 13, Bates 123-124. K.P.B. said that Respondent met with her for about ten minutes. ODC 13, Bates 121.

Disciplinary Counsel took Mary Davis' sworn statement on February 12, 2019.5 ODC 14, Bates 135-155. Ms. Davis stated that she has known Respondent for approximately sixteen (16) years, that they are former friends, and he is a friend of her ex-husband. ODC 14, Bates 138-139. Mr. and Mrs. Davis wanted to adopt a child that they had taken care of since he was five and a half (5 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) months old, and the child was now fourteen (14) years old. ODC 14, Bates 140. Ms. Davis said that at some point in 2018, Respondent came to their house one night and asked Mr. Davis to "sign some papers against Jeff [Mr. Simpkins] for an accident". ODC 14, Bates 143, 147. She said that Respondent told Mr. Davis that, if he signed the papers, he would handle the adoption for free. ODC 14, Bates 143. Ms. Davis said that Respondent also asked Mr. Davis to get Edith Puckett, Phillip Puckett, and Barbara Marcum to sign papers as well. Id. Ms. Davis said Mr. Davis told her he signed the false affidavit for Respondent when he signed papers for the adoption. ODC 14, Bates 148. Ms. Davis said she knew the affidavit was false because she knew the accident was a setup, and Mr. Simpkins did not have anything to do with it. ODC 14, Bates 149. Ms. Davis stated that Respondent was already representing them in the adoption matter, and then subsequently represented her exhusband in the divorce. ODC 14, Bates 142-143. Ms. Davis said that Respondent then left her name

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ms. Davis did not appear at the disciplinary hearing.

off the adoption papers. ODC 14, Bates 141. Ms. Davis said her ex-husband was trying to take the child out-of-state, instead of them having 50/50 custody. ODC 14, Bates 141-142. She said the adoption did not go through because she would not sign any papers. ODC 14, Bates 142-143. Ms. Davis said she did not think it was right for Respondent to handle the adoption for them and then represent her ex-husband in the divorce. ODC 14, Bates 151.

Disciplinary Counsel took Ricky Haney's sworn statement on February 12, 2019, ODC 15. Bates 156-157. Mr. Haney said he is the brother of Billy Brian Haney,<sup>6</sup> a Civilian Court Bailiff for the Mingo County Sheriff's Department. ODC 15, Bates 159. Mr. Haney said he has known Respondent since Respondent was born and they are close friends. ODC 15, Bates 160. Mr. Haney said a lot of times someone will come up to him and tell him they want Respondent, and if someone tells him they need an attorney he will pass the message on to Respondent. ODC 15, Bates 161, Mr. Haney said he has never asked for or been offered any payment for the referrals, and he has no other interaction with the clients. Id. Mr. Haney said he does do some handyman work for Respondent's father. ODC 15, Bates 162. Mr. Haney said that an individual named Katrina Young called him around two or three in the morning and told him she was with K.P.B.'s mother and that "they" wanted Respondent to represent K.P.B. ODC 15, Bates 165-166. Mr. Haney stated that he was told that it was the case involving the bailiff, but he has never met Missy Brown. ODC 15, Bates 166-167, 169. Mr. Haney said he knew who K.P.B. was when he got the call, and that he also knew that she was represented by Mr. Simpkins at that time because his brother was a bailiff. ODC 15, Bates 170. Mr. Haney said he told Respondent to contact K.P.B., and that Respondent "chewed him out" when he returned from the jail because K.P.B. already had counsel. ODC 15, Bates 173-174.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Billy Brian Haney is one of the Civilian Court Bailiffs listed by Respondent as a client in the October 20, 2017 letter he sent to Mr. Simpkins. ODC1, Bates 27.

Disciplinary Counsel took Respondent's sworn statement on March 8, 2019. ODC 17, Bates 184-292. Respondent said he met with K.P.B. for less than five minutes, that he asked her if she needed to talk to him. ODC 17, Bates 198. Respondent said that she answered "No, I have an attorney", so he left. Id. Respondent said that Ricky Haney had asked him to stop by the jail to see K.P.B., saying that K.P.B.'s mother and Katrina Young had called to make the request. ODC 17, Bates 198-199. Respondent said he never personally spoke with either of K.P.B.'s parents, and that he did not know that K.P.B. had an attorney. ODC 17, Bates 199-201. He said he assumed that she had counsel for the criminal matter but had no details of who the attorney was. ODC 17, Bates 201. Respondent said he did not think of K.P.B. as a prospective client and denied telling K.P.B. that he served in the House of Delegates and could do more for her because of that position. ODC 17, Bates 202, 204. Respondent also denied learning any information from K.P.B. that could be used against her in the defamation suit that he was going to file against Mr. Simpkins on behalf of the civilian court bailiffs. ODC 17, Bates 203. Respondent said that the only action he took in the defamation claim was to send the letter to Mr. Simpkins, and he did not believe that he had a conflict when he sent the letter. ODC 17, Bates 204-205. Respondent said he did not get K.P.B.'s consent to represent the bailiffs, and he then withdrew because there was "probably a conflict" because of the issue with K.P.B. Id. Regarding the issue of the false affidavits, Respondent said Earn Davis' family went to jail for insurance fraud, and that Mr. Davis told him that Mr. Simpkins told him how to stage car wrecks and get money for them. ODC 17, Bates 209, 211. Respondent said Mr. Davis told him that Mr. Simpkins would give him four or five hundred dollars for every car wreck. ODC 17, Bates 211-212. Respondent admitted that he prepared the affidavits based on the information provided to him by Earn Davis and Phillip Puckett, but stated that he never met Edith Puckett or Barbara Marcum.

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