BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS



NO. 20-0133

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

v.

JUSTIN J. MARCUM,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons (W.Va. I.D. No. 3406)

DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631

Charleston, West Virginia 25326
(304) 342-0133

lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Respondent Justin J. Marcum

I. Assignment of error

Whether the Court should adopt the Hearing Panel's recommendation of a two-year suspension of Respondent's law license, which is stayed, along with all of the other conditions imposed, where the Hearing Panel decided requiring Respondent to serve a six-month suspension and staying the remainder of the suspension was of little utility because he had demonstrated progress and a commitment to dealing with his substance abuse issues through treatment, counseling, regular drug testing, active involvement in peer programs, and successful participation and monitoring in the Judicial and Lawyer Assistance Program (JLAP)?

П,	Introduction
III.	Statement of the case
IV.	Summary of the argument
V.	Statement regarding oral argument and decision
VI.	Argument
VII.	Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

West Virginia cases:
Committee on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle,
192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994)
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Mullins,
159 W.Va. 647, 226 S.E.2d 427 (1976),
overruled on other grounds in
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Cometti,
189 W.Va. 262, 430 S.E.2d 320 (1993)
Committee on Legal Ethics of the W. Va. State Bar v. White,
189 W. Va. 135, 428 S.E.2d 556 (1993)
In Re: Reinstatement of DiTrapano,
233 W.Va. 754, 760 S.E.2d 568 (2014)
In Re: Reinstatement of DiTrapano,
240 W.Va. 612, 814 S.E.2d 275 (2018)
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Hassan,
241 W.Va. 298, 824 S.E.2d 224 (2019)
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Sidiropolis,
241 W.Va. 777, 828 S.E.2d 839 (2019)
Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Alderman,
229 W. Va. 656, 734 S.E.2d 737 (2012)
Other jurisdiction cases:
Stark County Bar Association v. Kelley,
2021 WL 966941 (Ohio 2021)

BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 20-0133

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

V.

JUSTIN J. MARCUM,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

I. Assignment of error

Whether the Court should adopt the Hearing Panel's recommendation of a two-year suspension of Respondent's law license, which is stayed, along with all of the other conditions imposed, where the Hearing Panel decided requiring Respondent to serve a six-month suspension and staying the remainder of the suspension was of little utility because he had demonstrated progress and a commitment to dealing with his substance abuse issues through treatment, counseling, regular drug testing, active involvement in peer programs, and successful participation and monitoring in the Judicial and Lawyer Assistance Program (JLAP)?

II. Introduction

To the Honorable Justices of the

West Virginia Supreme Court:

In this lawyer ethics matter, counsel for Petitioner Lawyer Disciplinary Board and Respondent Justin J. Marcum were in agreement as to the proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and proposed sanctions. Following the hearing held on September 21, 2020, on or about December 10, 2020, counsel for the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) and for Respondent presented the Hearing Panel with JOINT PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND RECOMMENDED SANCTIONS.¹

In its REPORT issued on February 8, 2021, the Hearing Panel, based upon its consideration of the evidence and the testimony of the witnesses addressing the laudatory progress Respondent has made in dealing with his opioid addiction, concluded that imposing a two-year suspension of Respondent's law license, which is stayed, along with the other monitoring conditions imposed recommended by Robert Albury, were appropriate sanctions in this case and gave proper recognition to the positive and ongoing rehabilitation efforts Respondent has made. Petitioner only disagreed with one aspect of the Hearing Panel's recommendations. Petitioner contends Respondent's law license should be suspended for a total of two years, with Respondent actually suspended for the first six months and then the remaining one year and a half of the suspension would be stayed. Thus, it was the decision by the Hearing Panel not to impose this six-months actual suspension that has prompted this appeal.²

¹In this document, the parties largely agreed to the facts, but they provided the Hearing Panel with additional briefing on a couple of issues where the parties were not in agreement. The two issues briefed by the ODC were rejected by the Hearing Panel as not being proven. (REPORT, at 55-57). In his brief, Respondent provided the Hearing Panel with a more detailed discussion of his mitigation efforts, which were considered by the Hearing Panel in reaching its final conclusion.

²The issue presented to the Court in this matter is not nearly as complex as the 69-page brief filed by Petitioner may suggest. Petitioner's brief includes an extensive discussion of matters that the ODC, counsel for Respondent, and the Hearing Panel AGREED had not been proven and therefore were dismissed. On page 54 of the REPORT, the Hearing Panel concluded:

Respondent respectfully submits the decision by the Hearing Panel is justified under the facts of this case, consistent with this Court's decisions, and, therefore, asks the Court to adopt the Hearing Panel's recommendations issued in this case.

III. Statement of the case

The most serious charge leveled against Respondent was in Count IV of the Statement of Charges, where it is alleged Respondent purchased Oxycontin from a person named Jackie Marcum (no relation to Respondent) and some time later Respondent represented Jackie Marcum as his criminal defense counsel where Jackie Marcum was facing drug-related offenses unrelated to Respondent's purchase.³ Although Respondent has never been arrested or convicted of any crime

Count I: Both Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent agree that the evidence presented at the disciplinary hearing did not prove the charges asserted in paragraphs 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, and 26 of the Statement of Charges involving Rules 1.7(a), 1.9(a), 1.18(c), 7.3(a), 8.1(a), 8.4(c). Md 8.4(d) of the RPC against Respondent.

Count II: Both Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent agree that the evidence presented at the disciplinary hearing did not prove the charges asserted in paragraphs 50, 51, and 52 of the Statement of Charges involving Rules 1.7(a), 7.3(a), 8.1(a), and 8.4(c) RPC against Respondent. (Emphasis added).

Respondent respectfully submits that because all counsel and the Hearing Panel agreed that Counts I and II had not been proven, pages 3 through 26 of the BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD (PETITIONER'S BRIEF) ought to be ignored by the Court as an unnecessary distraction from the actual issue raised in this case. Consequently, in this brief, Respondent will not comment on the allegations asserted in connection with Counts I and II, which were not proven, as agreed to by all the parties and as found by the Hearing Panel.

³Count III in the Statement of Charges alleged minor violations relating to Facebook posts made by Respondent relating to comments about a police officer named Bert Gibson, who was, in Respondent's opinion, unjustifiably harassing citizens in his area. Respondent admitted that these posts failed to list his address and could have been viewed either as advertising material or the solicitation of clients, without complying with those particular rules. In addressing this charge, the

in connection with this event, he freely acknowledges that on one occasion, he did purchase Oxycontin from Jackie Marcum. (REPORT, Finding of fact ¶87).

Once he had time to reflect on his addiction, Respondent came to realize that his dependence on drugs went back to an event that occurred when he was about twenty years old when he was attacked by someone, who hit him in the head with a hammer. (Hrg. Trans. 279). From this injury, Respondent often suffered from serious headaches for which he was prescribed opiates for treatment. (Hrg. Trans. 320-21). Respondent began abusing opiates around December of 2017 through January of 2018. (Hrg. Trans. 324).

Respondent testified that he was in the courtroom on the day that Jackie Marcum made an appearance and during the hearing, Jackie Marcum told the judge that Respondent would represent him. Although Respondent did not want to represent Jackie Marcum, he did so anyway. (*Id.*). While there was testimony that Respondent's purchase of Oxycontin from Jackie Marcum was on a video viewed by Jackie Marcum's subsequent counsel, Respondent testified this video was not in the materials he was provided by the State in discovery. (*Id.*).

Respondent worked out a plea agreement for Jackie Marcum where he entered a guilty plea to two felonies with a potential one to five year sentence. Before Jackie Marcum was sentenced on this guilty plea, his new lawyer had the guilty plea set aside and was able to negotiate a deal where Jackie Marcum pleaded guilty to one crime with a potential one to fifteen year sentence. This second

Hearing Panel concluded, "The Facebook posts by Respondent about Mr. Gibson did not follow the requirements of the Rules to identify the posts as advertisements. However, the Hearing Panel finds this violation to be an unintentional violation and a minor one and if alone should have only resulted in an admonishment or reprimand. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee also finds that the statements made regarding Mr. Gibson would only be a violation of the Rules if they were proven to be false and are otherwise protected by the First Amendment. Mr. Gibson's remedy is not an ethics complaint but a suit for defamation." (Emphasis added). (REPORT, at 60).

lawyer believed this was a better deal because the deal included alternative sentencing. (REPORT, Finding of fact ¶82). "The case involving Jackie Marcum had the potential for justice to be harmed by Respondent's conflict of interest in the plea agreement he obtained for Jackie Marcum, but Jackie Marcum was able to obtain a plea offer with a lesser recommendation from the State." (REPORT, at 59).

While there was some conflicting testimony between allegations made by Jackie Marcum and Respondent's testimony, Respondent was very open with what inappropriate actions he had taken:

Respondent agreed that he engaged in illegal activity in buying pills from Jackie Marcum, and he did so while he was a licensed attorney and serving in the West Virginia House of Delegates. Hrg. Trans. 278. Respondent said his addiction issues affected his ability to practice law. Hrg. Trans. 278-79....Respondent admitted he had a conflict of interest when he represented Jackie Marcum because previously, he had purchased pills from him. Hrg. Trans. 307. Respondent denied ever asking Jackie Marcum to pay him for his legal services with pills. Hrg. Trans. 306-07. Respondent denied that the trial court appointed him to represent Jackie Marcum, but rather it was Jackie Marcum who spoke up at the arraignment and stated that Respondent would represent him. Hrg. Trans. 268-269, 280-281, 307-308. (Id.).

Even before these ethics charges were filed against Respondent, he was forced through discussions with his family to face the reality that he had a serious substance abuse issue:

Finally, Respondent explained that during a family camping trip in Tennessee around June 7, 2018, his family forced him to face the truth that he needed to be committed for drug rehabilitation. Hrg. Trans. 308-309. Once Respondent got into the drug rehabilitation program and committed to JLAP, he recognized his drug addiction and wanted to do what he could to overcome this disease. Hrg. Trans. 309-313). (Id.).

Respondent left his camping trip and enrolled in the program at Cumberland Heights in

Tennessee, where Robert Albury, who is the Executive Director of JLAP, formerly worked. At that

facility, Respondent was diagnosed with chemical dependencies, specifically benzodiazepines, tranquilizers like Valium and Xanax, and opiates. After completing that program, Respondent contacted JLAP and engaged in its monitoring program. Respondent voluntarily entered into a two-year monitoring program agreement, which involves regular alcohol and drug testing, verification of regular attendance at AA or NA meetings, and participation in a lawyer recovery support group. L. Dante diTrapano was assigned to be a peer mentor for Respondent to assist him in his ongoing recovery. Respondent now has agreed to a five-year monitoring program with JLAP, which Mr. Albury explained increases the long-term success rate of the individual involved in the program. Mr. Albury recommended that any discipline issued should include the continuing monitoring of Respondent. Finally, Mr. Albury testified he had seen a huge change in Respondent, that Respondent has helped other lawyers, and that Mr. Albury was comfortable advocating on Respondent's behalf because of his documented history of rehabilitation. Respondent no longer poses a threat to any client or the public. (REPORT, Finding of fact ¶84).

Mr. Albury does not testify in favor of every lawyer involved in JLAP, as he explained:

And let me tell you this, somebody earns their advocacy. I could just as easily come in and testify on behalf of the Board against somebody whose behavior is not indicative of somebody who's engaged in a program of recovery or is not compliant, so I don't do this unless my heart is in it and I believe I'm advocating for somebody who is worthy of it, who's earned it, whose record documents a history of rehabilitation, and I believe—who I believe is no longer a threat to the client public. Hrg. Trans. 199.

Mr. diTrapano testified that as a mentor, who had his own personal experiences dealing with substance abuse, 4 he texts or speaks with Respondent daily as well as attending JLAP meetings once

⁴For some background information on Mr. diTrapano's personal journey in dealing with his own substance abuse issues, see *In Re: Reinstatement of DiTrapano*, 233 W.Va. 754, 760 S.E.2d 568

a week and face-to-face meetings once a month. He observed Respondent becoming a better husband, father, and lawyer. Based upon his observations of Respondent as well as his own personal experiences, Mr. diTrapano stated he believed a suspension held in abeyance while Respondent continues to be monitored regularly through JLAP ought to be considered to ensure that Respondent remains drug-free and provides an incentive for him to continue working on his rehabilitation. (REPORT, Finding of fact ¶85).

The Hearing Panel adopted virtually all of the findings, conclusions, and sanctions proposed by Petitioner and Respondent in the JOINT PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND RECOMMENDED SANCTIONS. In fact, all parties and the Hearing Panel were in agreement with the sanctions recommended in Paragraphs B through E. (REPORT, at 68). The only difference between the agreed upon sanctions and the sanctions recommended by the Hearing Panel was in Paragraph A, which states:

A. That Respondent's law license be suspended for a period of two years, however, the suspension shall be stayed and the Respondent placed on supervised probation for the remaining period of Respondent's contract with JLAP or to June 28, 2023. See Robert C. Albury testimony Hrg. Trans. 191. Further, there shall be the immediate imposition of the entire two year suspension of any conditions or requirements of the JLAP contract or other Rules of Professional Conduct are violated after a petition to the Supreme Court.

Petitioner filed a timely objection to the Hearing Panel's recommendations, which triggered the present appeal.

^{(2014),} and In Re: Reinstatement of DiTrapano, 240 W.Va. 612, 814 S.E.2d 275 (2018). With his life experiences and struggles with substance abuse, Mr. diTrapano has proven to be a valuable JLAP resource mentoring other lawyers coping with these same issues.

IV. Summary of the argument

In ethics cases where the lawyer either possessed or used illegal drugs or abused legal drugs, this Court regularly has imposed at two-year suspension of the lawyer's license to practice law. Depending on the facts of each case, the Court sometimes grants retroactive credit toward the suspension or stays the suspension while, at the same time, imposing other conditions where the lawyer is monitored on a regular basis.

When the recommendations made by an ethics Hearing Panel are reviewed, this Court gives respectful consideration of the recommendations while exercising its own judgment.

In deciding on the appropriate disciplinary action for ethical violations, this Court must consider not only what steps would appropriately punish the respondent attorney, but also whether the discipline imposed is adequate to serve as an effective deterrent to other members of the Bar and at the same time restore public confidence in the ethical standards of the legal profession.

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